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Juan Bautista Villalpando and
Sacred Architecture in the Seventeenth Century

and decoration of the nine-bay synagogue, which

emerged in Poland in the second decade of the seven-
teenth century, was influenced by the treatise of Juan
Baudista Villalpando with its magnificent image of the Tem-
ple of Jerusalem (Figures 1-5).2 In this article, I expand the
scope of research to include several Dutch and English
monuments that illustrate the dissemination of this Polish
building type and Villalpando’s influence. Consideration of
these distant Jewish and Christian edifices strengthens my
hypothesis about the impact of Villalpando and makes pos-
sible a better understanding of the place that Polish
Baroque synagogues occupied in architectural history. In
particular, study of this building type underscores the essen-
tial role played by both architectural typology and messianic
mysticism in the program of those sacred buildings that
were modeled to a great extent on the iconography of the
Temple.

Eschatological thought occupied an important place in
the spiritual life of Europe in the sixteenth and seventeenth
centuries. It was invigorated in Italy, a center of Christian
humanistic culture and Jewish spirituality after the Spanish

I n previous publications,! I have argued that the plan

expulsion, and found believers in the Ottoman Empire and
eastern and western Europe.? It varied across the continent,
split between the Reformation and Counter-Reformation,
and survived crises as anticipated apocalyptic dates passed.
It was, however, not welcome in the Catholic Polish-
Lithuanian Commonwealth, where millenarianism and
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Judaising were almost synonymous,* and where the Protes-
tant vision of Papal Rome as a “Babylon” soon doomed to
collapse was persecuted.® As a result, the large community
of Ashkenazi Jews there preferred to hide any manifesta-
tions of their belief in near redemption, in spite of the mes-
sianic fervor stirred by forecasts based on the Zohar, by
Lurianic kabbalah, and by the Sabbatean prophecy. By con-
trast, in the Protestant Low Countries and England, mil-
lenarian brethren acted publicly. They involved Jews in
their preparations for the advent of the millennial kingdom,
and applauded the appearance of the alleged messiah, Shab-
betai Zevi (1626-1676).° In addition to millennialism, the
concept of the New Children of Israel was popular in
Protestant countries. In Holland, it was a component of
patriotic myth that identified the Dutch as a divinely cho-
sen people, already an advanced outpost of the new
Adamites.” In England, messianic enthusiasm together with
Hebraism was popular in the days of the Puritan Revolu-
tion; it vanished—at least among the intellectual elite—only
with the Restoration.® While approaches to messianic mys-
ticism in Catholic Poland and the Protestant Low Coun-
tries and England were distinct from each other, the
Sephardic and Ashkenazi Jewish communities freely
exchanged people and ideas, heeding messianic rumors and
their refutations with a common hope for near redemption.’
In 1648, predicted in the Zohar as the year the messiah
would appear, the violent persecution of the Jews during
Bohdan Chmielnicki’s uprising and the subsequent invasion



of the Commonwealth by Muscovites were a great shock
for the Jewish world, resulting in a massive emigration of
Jews from Poland and Lithuania. Eastern European
refugees arriving in Amsterdam, like other Jews who con-
tinued to believe that the messianic prediction would soon
be realized, viewed these traumatic events as “birth pangs”
of the as yet unfulfilled messianic expectation, an expecta-
tion that was met when Shabbetai Zevi was declared mes-
siah in 1665. This proved to be the major event in the
messianic history of the century, Zevi’s subsequent forced
conversion to Islam in 1666 resulting in turmoil among the
messianic believers.!? In the epoch during which eschato-
logical thought spread through Europe, the Temple became
an important symbol intelligible across diverse cultures.

The current study was stimulated by an interest in the
genesis and spread of a particular type of Baroque sacred
building, the so-called nine-bay synagogue, a variation of
the four-pier synagogue with equal vaulted bays. To date,
no satisfactory explanation of its origins has been proposed,
despite continuous discourse on the problem.'! Explanatory
theories propose the genesis of the nine-bay synagogue
from Orthodox Church architecture,'? or as an evolution
from the older so-called bimab-support synagogues, with
their clustered central piers, in the lands of the Polish-
Lithuanian Commonwealth. Scholars who argue that the
bimab-support synagogue was inspired by kabbalistic fer-
ment and liturgical innovations of the sixteenth century, or
as a parallel to the biblical “tower” (Nehemiah 8:4), refus-
ing to see additional sources of the nine-bay design, reduce
the importance of the nine-bay synagogue to that of a
merely efficient architectural solution providing a congre-
gation with more space, and with better visual and acoustic
communication with the central bimah."* However, I con-
tend that the iconographic significance of the Villalpandan
treatise must be taken into account to understand the gen-
esis of the nine-bay synagogue.

My aim in this article is to demonstrate the influence of
Villalpando’s image of the Temple of Jerusalem on the
design of synagogues, churches, and monasteries in Eng-
land, the Netherlands, and Poland during the seventeenth
century. As we shall see, Villalpando’s Temple assumed dif-
ferent architectural forms and different meanings in diverse
cultures during the epoch of great eschatological expecta-
tions and in relation to messianic mysticism, millennialism,
and the allegory of the New Children of Israel.

Villalpando’s Treatise and Its Influence

Juan Bautista Villalpando (1552-1608) was a Spanish archi-
tect, writer, and theorist, and, as of about 1575, a Jesuit friar.
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Figure 1 loannes Baptista Villalpandus and Hieronymus Pradus, /n
Ezechielem explanationes et apparatus urbis ac templi
Hierosolimitani. Commentarii et emaginibus illustratus opus, vol. 2
(Rome, 1604), pt.1, title page

According to his own account, he studied mathematics and
architecture with Juan de Herrera, the builder of the Esco-
rial, in or around the court of Philip II. About 1583, he met
Heré6nimo del Prado, a fellow Jesuit theologian, sculptor,
and architect, with whom he undertook a detailed recon-
struction of Solomon’s Temple and a full commentary on
the building as described by the prophet Ezekiel (chapters
40-42). The first volume of their treatise was published in
1596, after del Prado’s death. The next two volumes con-
taining graphic reconstructions of the Temple appeared in
1604 (see Figure 1).!* This work included several details
that make any quotation from Villalpando’s imagery recog-
nizable in future literature as well as in built monuments.
These elements include the nine-bay ground plan, distinc-
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Figure 2 Juan Bautista Villalpando, Temple of Jerusalem, plan

Figure 3 Villalpando, Temple of Jerusalem, elevation
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Figure 4 Villalpando, chart showing symbolism of the Temple of Jerusalem

tive curved buttresses, and a Corinthianesque Solomonic
architectural order (see Figures 3, 5).

In Villalpando’s treatise, the nine-bay ground plan of
the Temple compound was accompanied by an explanatory
scheme ascribing cosmic meaning to the overall layout. The
twelve outer nodes of the scheme represented the Twelve
Tribes of Israel. The four central nodes corresponded,
according to Villalpando, to the Levitical families—the sons
of Gerson, Merari, and Kohath, together with Moses and
Aaron, who were treated as one unit (Num. 2:1-34;
3:23-38). Villalpando connected the Twelve Tribes to the
signs of the zodiac, and the Levites to the elements: fire, air,

earth, and water. In addition, the seven known planets were
located in the spaces between the nodes of the scheme. The
sanctuary was placed on the axis of the whole composition,
shifted westward (see Figures 2, 4).1

According to Villalpando’s reconstruction, the archi-
tectural order of the Temple combined Corinthianesque
and Doric elements. The capitals of the columns, close to
Corinthian in their shape but composed of palm and date
fronds, supported a Doric entablature, including triglyphs,
which corresponded to the butt-ends of wooden beams (see
Figure 5). The channels of the triglyphs were decorated
with narrow palm branches.
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Figure 5 Villalpando, architectural orders of the Temple of Jerusalem

Villalpando’s architectural concept of Solomon’s Tem-
ple was assumed to be divinely ordained as revealed to
Hiram of Tyre. Under Villalpando’ influence, the Corinthi-
anesque order presented in the treatise as the characteristic
order of the Temple came to be judged by his popularizers
as a special, divine order within a peculiarly Baroque aes-
thetic theory opposed to Vitruvian theory.!¢

Graphic and textual quotations, as well as production of
three-dimensional models of Villalpando’s reconstruction
of the Temple, recurred throughout the seventeenth, eigh-
teenth, and even nineteenth centuries. They can be traced
in more than twenty known works.!” Besides these, Villal-
pando’s imagery was reproduced in various maps and views
of Jerusalem between 1660 and 1852.!® His architectural
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reconstructions were incorporated as backdrops for bibli-
cal subjects in drawings by Jan Luyken, his son Casper,
Pierre Mortier, and Bernard Picart.!®

Villalpando’s theoretical writings also had an impact on
built architecture, although not immediately. The Spanish
Jesuit Francisco Bautista imitated Villapando’s order at the
church of S. Juan Bautista (1633-34) in Toledo, an adapta-
tion that became recognized as a new Spanish order.?’ The
book by Rabbi Leén, another important link in the chain
of Villalpando’s followers, was reprinted several times,
translated into no fewer than seven languages, and popu-
larized by a wooden model (Figure 6). Rabbi Leén’s influ-
ence in the Reformed Low Countries coincided with the
architectural creativity of Jacob van Campen and Daniel



Stalpaert, whose work was also based directly on Villal-
pando’s treatise. In England, Inigo Jones and Christopher
Wren were impressed by the Jesuit’s exposition. Poland
became an early and important area of design applications
modeled on Villalpando.

The Polish Nine-Bay Synagogues and
Villalpando’s Treatise

In the Catholic Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth, the
influence of the treatise manifested itself early because it
was speedily imported by Bernardines, Dominicans, Jesuits,
and other monastic orders promoting the Counter-Refor-
mation. Numerous Polish scholars have discussed the influ-
ence of the treatise on Polish architecture.?! The oldest
known copy of the book in Polish libraries is dated 1610,
the same year its frontispiece was used for a booklet by
Hieronim Bildziukiewicz.?? The treatise appears to have
influenced the theoretical literature in Poland as reflected in
written works by Bartotomiej Nataniel Wasowski (an advi-
sor to King Jan Sobieski) and Benedykt Chmielowski.??
Architects and masons in Poland were certainly familiar
with the book, which was much more popular there than
other works by such famous theorists as Vincenzo Scamozzi
and Pietro Cataneo.?* It is not known whether Polish Jews
were acquainted with it.?5

In the architecture of Poland, the first manifestations of
Villalpando’s iconography appeared in Catholic churches
and monasteries. The characteristic combination of the
Corinthian and Doric orders was often applied in Jesuit
buildings. Several design applications marked by Villal-

Figure 6 Rabbi Jacob Juda
Ledn, view of the Temple of
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pando’s influence appear in works by the so-called older
generation of Lublin architects, who were active in the first
quarter of the seventeenth century.?® One example is the
facade decoration of the Jesuit Church in Lublin, with a
frieze including triglyphs above Corinthian capitals, prob-
ably dating to 1617.?7 A similar combination of orders is
noticeable in the Visitant Nuns Church in Krakow, as well
as in the Jesuit Church portal in Kalisz.?® The multibay
scheme was applied to the layout of Carmelite and Camal-
dolese monasteries,?’ the first example with clear influence
from Villalpando being the Carmelite monastery in Czerna,
builtin 1631.3° Here the nine-bay scheme was reduced to a
cross-in-square four-bay composition, in which the church
compartments were substituted for several of the bays (Fig-
ure 7). In Brykowska’s opinion, the concept of Solomon’s
Temple in the desertum at Czerna echoed an instruction by
St. John of the Cross, who recommended “certain special
places which God chooses” as an appropriate location for a
monastery.’! Beside this, as with other applications of
Solomonic architecture, it could glorify the wisdom of the
founder and the perfection of the building.*?

As stated, I contend that Villalpando influenced the
genesis of the so-called nine-bay synagogue, which spread
through the eastern region of the Polish-Lithuanian Com-
monwealth beginning in the second quarter of the seven-
teenth century. In the existing literature, the term
“nine-bay” or “nine-vault synagogue” denotes those four-
pier buildings where the supports together with the trans-
verse arches divide the ceiling of the sanctuary into nine
equal vaulted bays.’* This type is close to the so-called
bimab-support synagogues,** in which the central piers are
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Figure 7 Plan of a monastery in Czerna,
Poland, 1631
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close to one another, and in their height do not reach the
springing point of the major vaults; they bear a masonry
canopy that supports the barrel vaulting of the main space
of the prayer hall. The morphological similarity and
chronological proximity of these two alternative versions
of the four-pier scheme demand that they be closely
examined.

The earliest two bimahb-support prayer halls were built
in the second half of the sixteenth century in Lublin and
Przemysdl, but only the latter one can be analyzed as an
authentic monument that survived until the Holocaust
without major changes. This synagogue was constructed in
1592-94, probably by Italian architect Andrea Pellegrino
Bononi.’ No direct precursor has been found for an edi-
fice of this type either in contemporary Jewish or Christian
sacred architecture.’® It is a building with four heavy
columns placed at the four corners of the central bimab. The
columns carry a cubic structure pierced by semicircular
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arches and shouldered openings forming a structural sup-
port for the barrel vaulting on perimeter of the prayer hall
(Figure 8).>” The columns are crowned with Corinthian
capitals that do not correspond to the proportions of the
heavy shafts, which are akin rather to the Doric order.
Apparently, the architect intended to employ the
Corinthian order notwithstanding the structural require-
ments. This decision may have been inspired by the
Corinthian columns proposed by Luca Pacioli in his recon-
struction of the Temple gate titled “Porta Templi Domini
Dicta Speciousa.”® Alternatively, the idea may have been
borrowed from the twisted Solomonic Corinthian columns,
which were thought to be derived from the Temple, and
were a motif especially fashionable in the Catholic world at
that time, when the old St. Peter’s basilica in Rome was
under reconstruction.’” Thus, the Solomonic idea may have
been present in the four-pier synagogue design as early as
the late sixteenth century.



There is every reason to believe that the Great Suburban
Synagogue of L'viv was the earliest nine-bay synagogue. It
can be dated with certainty by the agreement concluded
between the Jewish community and the town hall, and by its
confirmations by both the king and the Church.* The initial
agreement between the Suburban community and the mag-
istrate, dated 30 April 1624, stated that the synagogue vault-
ing “should be arranged modestly in three sections under an
Italian roof,” meaning a structure of three naves crowned by
a hipped roof, not by a gable.*! The document added that the
building’s width “cannot exceed 40 cubits, while the length
will be limited to 38 cubits. The height from the ground to
the top of the highest middle vault will be 20 cubits, in order
to preserve the roof apex as high as those of the neighboring
houses.” From this passage, we see that the decision to con-
struct the vaults in equal heights had not yet been made when
the agreement was signed. Before World War I, the interior
of the building had changed little since the seventeenth cen-
tury. Though the synagogue was destroyed by the Nazis, sim-
plified but clear drawings and old photographs exist (Figures
9, 10). The column capitals at the Suburban Synagogue com-
bined Doric, Ionic, and Corinthian elements (Figure 11). A
belt of acanthus leaves with corner scrolls, resembling a
Corinthian capital, was placed underneath the Doric echinus
decorated with egg and dart, while four rosettes filled the four

Figure 8 Attributed to Andrea
Pellegrino Bononi, Old
Synagogue, Przemysl, Poland,
1592-94, destroyed

Figure 9 Attributed to
Giacomo Medleni, Great
Suburban Synagogue, L'viv,
now Ukraine, 1624-32,
destroyed. The zodiac signs
visible on the east wall, to the
right of the Torah Ark, are
those of Virgo and Leo.
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Figure 10 Great Suburban Synagogue, L'viv, plan

corners under the abacus. This type of capital corresponds
fairly closely to one of the Composite examples after Sebas-
dano Serlio.” The floral decoration of the capitals included
rare element—rows of beading—which may be a visual quo-
tation from the palm-and-date fronds in Villalpando’s capi-
tals. Szymon Zajczyk, a scholar who examined the monument
before its destruction, characterized these capitals as “neither
schematic nor common.”* The octagonal columns support-
ing the vaults seem smooth, visually approximating Com-
posite proportions. The ground plan of the building was
nine-bay, with a slightly reduced central bay, and groin vaults
separated by transverse arches, creating no emphasis on
either axis. Zodiac signs sculpted on the walls¥ provided a
connection with the Twelve Tribes of Israel. Nevertheless,
the location of those signs differed from that suggested by
Villalpando, as one can see in the prewar photograph of the
east wall (see Figure 9).* The main elements of affinity
between the Suburban Synagogue and Villalpando’s recon-
struction of the Temple were the composite architectural
order that combined Corinthian and Doric elements, the
nine-bay plan, and the decorative motifs associated with the
Tribes of Israel.
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Unlike the synagogue of the L'viv suburban commu-
nity, where the rabbi was the little-known Jacob Koppel ben
Asher Kohen,¥ the synagogue of the Volhynian city of
Ostroh was traditionally associated with one of the fore-
most Jewish commentators, Rabbi Samuel Eliezer ben
Judah Ha-Levi Edels (1555-1631), and was called the
MaHaRShA after his acronym. It was erected about 1627,
when the Jews of Ostroh were granted a decree to build a
synagogue not exceeding the height of the local Catholic
and Orthodox churches.*

The general layout of the Ostroh Synagogue is very simi-
lar to that of the Suburban Synagogue of Lviv. It is clearly based
on a nine-bay plan with equal vault bays (Figures 12, 13). Its
capitals follow the composite order of the Suburban Synagogue
of Lviv (Figure 14; see Figure 11). The size of its prayer hall is
20.85 x 18.3 m,* slighy larger than that of the Suburban Syn-
agogue, which measured 20.1 x 19.28 m.>° On the exterior, the
synagogue was supplied with slanting buttresses, at least two on
the main, west facade (Figure 15). Their position between the
large round-arched windows suggests a quotation from Villal-
pando’s curved buttresses, though in Ostroh no curvature was
noticeable. The general layout of the building and its decora-
tve details leave no room for doubt that it was designed by the
same master who was responsible for the Suburban Synagogue
of Lviv.*!
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Figure 11 Great Suburban Synagogue, L'viv, capital
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Figure 14 MaHaRShA Synagogue, Ostroh, capital
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Figure 13 MaHaRShA Synagogue, Ostroh, plan
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The presence of an architect in two distant cities in the
same decade narrows the search for his identity. The archi-
tect of both synagogues was probably Giacomo (Jakéb)
Medleni or Madlaina, a master of the Lviv builders’ guild
since 1601, who arrived in that city from Graubiinden in
Switzerland at the end of the sixteenth century. According
to recently discovered documents, Medleni had built the
Luts’k Gate in Dubno for Prince Aleksander Zastawski in
1623.52 The great similarity between the plan of this gate
and those of the Luts’k and Tatar Gates in Ostroh, a city
that was partially in the possession of the same Aleksander
Zastawski, strengthens the argument that Medleni designed
all three edifices.”® Another of Medleni’s works is the
Bernardine Monastery in Iziaslav, a city located near Ostroh
and belonging to the same aristocratic family.** The oldest
preserved part of the building features a Mannerist attic wall
similar to those of the town gates as well as to the MaHaR-
ShA synagogue of Ostroh. The architect died in 1630,
having been one of the guild masters for about thirty years,
so it would be reasonable to expect that any works executed
by him in the third decade of the seventeenth century would
bear the hallmarks of a very skilled professional.

A comparison may be made between the synagogue in
Vilnius built in 1633% and those of L'viv and Ostroh. The
Vilnius synagogue combined high supports reaching the
imposts of the vault, a characteristic of the nine-bay scheme,
with central piers standing close together and the perime-
ter of the prayer hall spanned by barrel vaults.”” Thanks to
this mixture of architectural features, we may regard the
synagogue of Vilnius as a result of the historical develop-
ment of the bimab-support synagogue in the direction of
the nine-bay design. Its date, later than those of the Lviv
and Ostroh synagogues, proves that the true nine-bay
design was more Medleni’s invention than the product of
evolution of the older bimah-support type—provided that
no transitional forms before 1624 are discovered. The
bimab-support scheme existed independently and was used
in other synagogues, such as those of Luts’k (1626-28),
Tarnéw (about 1630), Pinsk (1640), Slonim (1642), Nava-
grudak (1648), and Tykocin (1648).°% Almost all these build-
ings use the Tuscan order, with a Vitruvian consistency in
the heavy proportions of their piers, whereas only the syn-
agogue of Tarnéw bears Solomonic decoration similar to
that of Przemysl. Thus, the second wave of the bimab-sup-
port synagogues of the seventeenth century chronologically
overlapped with the first nine-bay synagogues.

Insofar as the nine-bay design was not the result of a
straightforward development of the bimah-support scheme,
Villalpando’s imagery as an alternative source is more likely.
The treatise was available in L'viv; copies were held in the
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Jesuit College and the Carmelite Monastery;’® another
belonged to the local Dominicans;®® and one other is still
in the possession of L'viv University Library.! Villalpando’s
iconography was applied by Giacomo Briano
(1589-1649)—the supervisor of Jesuit building sites in the
province of Little Poland—when he designed the Jesuit
Church in Lviv from 1617 to 1621. One version of his
drawings was furnished with the recognizable combination
of Corinthian capitals and rectangular openings toward the
gallery in the frieze level as a substitute for triglyphs.®
Although Briano also designed the Jesuit Church and col-
lege in Ostroh, it is impossible to attribute the local syna-
gogues to him. He had left Poland in 1621, before fire
destroyed Lviv’s old Suburban Synagogue and a new build-
ing was commissioned; he did not return until September
1630,% when the new Suburban Synagogue of Lviv was
nearly finished. In all likelihood, the synagogue of Ostroh
was also begun while Briano was abroad, since its design
was the subject of a document dated 1627. Briano never
possessed a team of masons of his own capable of executing
a serious commission, although he could have influenced
the local guild masters such as Medleni. Moreover, it is
probable that Jan Chomentowski (1594-1641), a Jesuit friar
and architect, a professor of mathematics and Hebrew at the
colleges of L'viv and Krakow, and probably a pupil of Bri-
ano who continued his teacher’s projects,** could have pop-
ularized the Jesuit iconography among the local masters.
The ruin of Jewish life due to the Chmielnicki uprising
in mid-seventeenth-century Poland stalled the construction
of synagogues. That of Leshniv, built about 1677, included
apparently the earliest nine-bay prayer hall to follow those
of Lviv and Ostroh. Other than the nine-bay design, no Vil-
lalpandian elements can be detected in this building with
its modest version of the Tuscan order.®> Nevertheless,
some nine-bay examples show a more sophisticated
approach to the architectural orders. In Zhovkva, in the so-
called Sobieski Shul built in 1692, probably by Peter
Beber,® a mixture of orders was applied to the capitals. In
this immaculate nine-bay synagogue with four round,
Doric-proportioned columns, the egg-and-dart echinus was
underlined by a row of acanthus leaves and rosettes, and
surmounted by the Corinthian abacus (Figures 16, 17). On
the exterior, sloping buttresses strengthened walls pierced
by high round-headed windows. The architectural appear-
ance of this monument may have been influenced by the
Amsterdam synagogues, which are discussed below. It is
likely that the authority of Uri (Phoebus) ben Aaron Ha-
Levi (1625-1715), a Hebrew and Yiddish printer who
moved his press from Amsterdam to Zhovkva in 1690
reportedly at the invitation of King Jan Sobieski,*” played an



Figure 15 MaHaRShA
Synagogue, Ostroh, view from
the southwest

Figure 16 Attributed to Peter
Beber, Great Synagogue
(Sobieski Shul), Zhovkva, now
Ukraine, 1692

important role in this cross-cultural fertilization. Another
application of Doric proportions, combined with egg-and-
dart echinus and Corinthianesque volutes and curved
Corinthian abacus, is known from the Little Synagogue of
Rzeszéw, built in 1705-10.%8

It is also possible that Villalpando’s influence on the
nine-bay design persisted in some synagogues with but-
tresses, like that of Przeworsk, built in the second half of
the seventeenth or early eighteenth century.” The curva-
ture of its buttresses seems very slight in the surviving pre-
war photographs, though in the drawing by Kajetan
Wincenty Kielisiriski from 1838 they are remarkably curved
(Figure 18).

The reflection of Villalpando’s Temple iconography in
the overall composition of the L'viv and Ostroh synagogues
did not have the same meaning as it did in Catholic exam-
ples such as the Carmelite monastery in Czerna. In the lat-
ter case, Villalpando’s imagery referred to the Temple of
antiquity and thus sanctified the newly developed site.
While synagogues also referred to the historical Temple of
Jerusalem, this reference was ordinarily expressed in words
and through the orientation of the building.”” However, the
synagogues at L'viv and Ostroh, unlike most others of the
past, also quoted the sacred source through architectural
means. Moreover, this iconography expressed the profound
Jewish hope for the rebuilding of the Temple and for the
advent of the messiah, who was expected to “reveal himself
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Figure 17 Great Synagogue, Zhovkva, plan

speedily in our days.””! I believe that their architectural
appearance echoed messianic fervor, the kabbalistic revival
among the Jews of the eastern Polish lands in the first half
of the seventeenth century mentioned by contemporaries.”
This fervor was muted by Jewish authorities for the good of
community, given the threat of Catholic reprisals. For
instance, Rabbi Edels of Ostroh, himself well acquainted
with kabbalah, criticized Jewish youth for discussing mysti-
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cism publicly.”® However, the architectural expression of
messianic fervor was probably considered too arcane to
arouse Catholic reaction.

Villalpando’s influence in Poland appeared in Catholic
book lore and sacred architecture soon after the treatise
arrived in the country. The application of his characteristic
architectural order and the multicourt scheme emerged in
the design of churches and monasteries. These quotations
could glorify the edifice and its founder, and they could hal-
low the building site by comparing it with the Temple
Mount. By contrast, in the nine-bay synagogues, which
emerged in the 1620s, Villalpando’s nine-court scheme of
the Temple compound was transformed into the nine-bay
hall layout of a synagogue. In this case, the application of
Villalpando’s imagery presumably reflected the messianic
expectations of the Jewish community of Poland.

The Influence of Villalpando on Seventeenth-
Century Dutch Church and Synagogue Design

Fifteen years after Medleni had interpreted the nine courts
of Solomon’s Temple as nine bays of vaults, Villalpando’s
treatise inspired several works by the Dutch architect Jacob
van Campen (1595-1657).7* His interest in Villalpando
dated at least to 1634, when he asked his friend and client,
the poet and statesman Constantijn Huygens (1596-1687),
to arrange for the loan of the book.” It is possible that van
Campen was acquainted with Rabbi Leén, since the latter
assisted Huygens in construing Hebrew passages,’® while
van Campen’s knowledge of the original text is beyond
doubt. Starting with the churches of Hooge Zwaluwe and

Figure 18 Kajetan Wincenty Kielisifski,
drawing of synagogue, Przeworsk,
Poland, 1838



Z
224
7
%
s
i)
=
5
P
-
z
A

Figure 19 Jacob van Campen, Nieuwe Kerk, Haarlem, 1646-49

Rensewoude, built in 163941, he introduced curved but-
tresses and Greek cross—based plans into Reformed Church
sacred architecture.” Later, in van Campen’s Nieuwe Kerk
in Haarlem, designed in 1645 and erected in 1646-497®
(Figures 19, 20a), the impact of Villalpando’s reconstruc-
tions became even more explicit.

As van der Linden has shown, the similarity between
Villalpando’s imagery and the Nieuwe Kerk is noticeable in
the curved buttresses alternating with the round-headed
windows echoing the buttresses and niches of the Temple
platform; in the austerity of the church’s elevatons crowned
by a horizontal cornice; and in the triglyphs on its frieze.”
One may add that the cross-in-square plan of the Nieuwe
Kerk in Haarlem is analogous to the plan of the Temple
compound in Villalpando’s interpretation (see Figure 2),
and with the explanation of its symbolism (see Figure 4).
The nine original courtyards of the Temple are replaced by
the bays of vaulting and the flat coffered ceiling in the

church. This architectural device repeats van Campen’s
interpretation of the church’s elevations as based on the ele-
vations of the Temple platform rather than on those of the
Temple building proper. The placement of the columns is
crucial for understanding the ground plan of the church,
given that the nine-bay division of the vaulting is not
explicit, since the bays are not treated homogeneously. The
four interior square piers of the Nieuwe Kerk, which delin-
eate the nine-bay design scheme, have a clear load-bearing
function. The secondary columns merely support the cen-
ter of the beams. In the original design that van Campen
proposed to the Haarlem municipality in 1645, the vaults
rested on twelve columns, but he reduced their number to
eight on the request of the magistrate. Nevertheless, the
initial idea was not forgotten: the church interior as painted
by Pieter Jansz. Saendredam in 1652 depicts twelve columns
though in fact four of them never existed.®® The twelve
columns of the church apparently evoked or symbolized the
Twelve Tribes of Israel, an important component of Villal-
pando’s symbolic interpretation.

The intersecting vaults of the axial naves of the church
produced a cross, which was emphasized by painted her-
aldry glorifying the legendary participation of the Haar-
lemmers in the Crusades. Though the cross was not explicit
in Villalpando’s nine-bay scheme, undoubtedly it was of
great importance for the Reformed Church. The four cen-
tral columns, which produced the cross-in-square or nine-
bay layout of the church, became crucial elements of the
architectural scheme. Their significance was restated in the
pulpit, where the acoustic canopy was subdivided into nine
bays by four columns bearing the intersecting joists. Addi-
tional parallels between the pulpit and Villalpando’s image
of the Temple can be detected in its spatial location within
the church, where it took the place of the sanctuary in the
nine-bay plan of the compound,® and in the curved but-
tresses added on its north and south sides. In the case of the
pulpit, the four columns could be interpreted as an allusion
to the Levites—the Archpriests—but not to the horns of
the altar as supposed by van der Linden,? since preaching
prevailed over sacrifice in the Reform Church.®#* Van
Campen’s role in the creation of a meaningful spatial com-
position and a liturgical ordering for the Reformed Church
should not be underestimated, since it was the architect’s
imagination that transformed the nine-bay plan of the Tem-
ple compound into the nine-bay scheme of a church and of
its pulpit.

Van der Linden has already proposed several reasons
for the application of the imagery of the Temple in the
Nieuwe Kerk. In a commentary to the State Bible, the
rebuilt Temple as described by Ezekiel was considered to
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Figure 20 Plans of a) Nieuwe Kerk, Haarlem, and b) Oosterkerk, Amsterdam

be a prophecy of the Universal Church.** Another motif in
the program of the Nieuwe Kerk was the Temple purified
of idolatry. Since the suppression of the Protestant Church
in Europe was compared to the destruction of the Temple
of Jerusalem by the Babylonians, its restoration by
Zerubabbel appeared analogous to the liberation of the
Dutch people from the papacy and Spanish tyranny.®
Finally, the hope for peace was widespread when the
Nieuwe Kerk was designed and built; the end of the Eighty-
Year War between Spain and Holland was already in sight
in 1645, and the peace treaty was signed in January 1648.
Thus, current events were compared with the days of
Solomon, the peaceful king and builder of the Temple.?

These analogies can be linked to the myth of the so-
called New Children of Israel, widespread in the Protestant
lands. This concept became especially popular in patriotic
literature, chronicles, historiographic and geographic
works, didactic stories, poetry, drama, and in the plastic arts
of the Netherlands, where a newly created national mythol-
ogy of the Nederkinderen Israéls took root.*” One of the
most interesting components of this ideology was the typol-
ogy that connected biblical events with current affairs, not
in terms of a causal relationship but by analogy.8® In keep-
ing with this typology, the inaugural sermon preached on 3
May 1648 presented the reconstruction of the Temple of
Solomon in the shape of the Nieuwe Kerk as the fulfillment
of biblical prophecy.®

Apart from this typology, which included more patri-
otic propaganda than messianic fervor, eschatological think-
ing can be detected in the concept of the Nieuwe Kerk. The
year of its dedication was identified as a date of messianic
significance in the Zobar and in later quasi-Zoharic texts,”
and this calculation was well known in millenarian circles.
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The presence of the eschatological symbol of the Twelve
Tribes of Israel in the composition of the church, to say
nothing of its symbolic parallels with the Temple, only rein-
forces this suggestion. The cumulative Solomonic symbol-
ism of the building thus echoes not only current historical
events such as the peace treaty between the States-General
and Spain, but a popular millenarian calculation as well.

Van Campen’s concept was borrowed by Daniel Stal-
paert (1615-1676), who as the city architect was responsi-
ble for executing van Campen’s design of the Amsterdam
town hall. It was repeated in Stalpaert’s church in Oud-
shoorn (1661-71), where he applied a purified version of
the scheme. He reduced the number of pillars to four, and
kept the curved buttresses and the pulpit, similar to those in
Nieuwe Kerk, again linking the church design with Tem-
ple iconography. Nevertheless, the architect’s treatment of
the church exterior emphasized the cross both in the
ground plan with its protruding axial naves, and in the var-
ied heights of the compartments, which departed from the
integral volume and continuous cornices of the Nieuwe
Kerk at Haarlem. Thus the nine-bay plan, clearly recog-
nizable in a sequence of monuments, became a device con-
necting the Hebrew Bible and Christianity in Protestant
church architecture. This device could emphasize the image
of Solomon’s Temple in the symbolism of a Christian sanc-
tuary, or blur it, depending on the architect’s handling of
the design.

Stalpaert applied the four-pillar scheme once more, to
the Oosterkerk in Amsterdam (1663-71) (Figures 20b, 21).”!
He repeated familiar features, starting with the curved but-
tresses. Above a cross-in-square plan, the intersecting barrel
vaults of the axial naves dominating the interior and the exte-
rior were increased on account of the corner bays. He



Figure 21 Daniel Stalpaert, Oosterkerk, Amsterdam, 1663-71

imported the shape and position of the pulpit from the
churches of Haarlem and Oudshoorn,” though the acoustic
canopy now rested on only two piers and was divided into
twelve flat bays instead of nine. Obviously, the church echoed
Villalpando’s reconstruction of the Temple, although Stal-
paert’s knowledge of Rabbi Leén’s interpretation cannot be
ruled out. The question remains as to whether the symbolism
of the two later churches, those of Oudshoorn and Amster-
dam, was a product of the patriotic theory of the New Chil-
dren of Israel or was inspired by millenarian expectations.
The churches both date from about 1666, a year in Christian
chiliasm, but further research on the actual building program
is needed for a satisfactory conclusion.

The next application of the nine-bay scheme came in
the Grote Sjoel, the Ashkenazi Great Synagogue of Ams-
terdam, built by a master mason Elias Bouwman
(1636-1686) under Stalpaert’s supervision, in 1670-71 (Fig-
ures 22, 23). This synagogue was to become the first four-
pier synagogue in Holland and an important point of
intersection for concepts of synagogue architecture coming
from both west and east of Europe. It adopted the plan of
the Reformed churches by van Campen and Stalpaert while
following the four-pier layout from Poland suggested by the
synagogue’s patron Joseph ben Abraham, alias Joseph Polak,
who came from the city of Bar in Podolia, a Polish province,
now in Ukraine.” The Grote Sjoel did not inherit much

from the Polish prototype besides four pillars and the cen-
tral bimah. The Dutch system of triple longitudinal wooden
barrel vaults, the women’s galleries protruding into the
prayer hall and adjacent to the central pillars, as well as the
orientation of the Holy Ark toward the geographical
Jerusalem instead of to the conventional east, were notice-
able departures that distinguished the Amsterdam syna-
gogue from the Polish prototype.®* In contrast to the
churches described above, the barrel vaults of the Grote
Sjoel ran along the longitudinal axis of the building. In this
way, they emphasized the orientation toward the Torah Ark
and avoided any allusion to the cross. The synagogue exte-
rior is an integral volume, corresponding to its interior. The
north elevation of the synagogue, if not others, was sup-
ported by curved buttresses (see Figure 23).

The Ashkenazi Great Synagogue was followed by the
Portuguese  Great of Amsterdam—the
Esnoga—built by the same Elias Bouwman, under Stal-
paert’s supervision. The initiating sermon by Rabbi Isaac
Aboab de Fonseca on 23 November 1670 raised a generous
donation of about forty thousand guilders for the purchase
of the building plot. The cornerstones were laid in April
1671, and the synagogue was to have been completed by
May 1672, but the French invasion and the hurricane on 1
August 1674 delayed the consecration to 2 August 1675,
one day after the 9th of Ab, the Hebrew anniversary of the
Destruction of the Temple. The ceremonies lasted for eight
days, as did those for the dedication of the purified Temple
under the Maccabees.”

Synagogue

Seven inaugural sermons were delivered by Aboab de
Fonseca and his disciples. The first-day sermon was dedi-
cated to Adam’s fall and the need for redemption from orig-
inal sin.”® The second-day sermon placed the synagogue in
the same relationship to the Solomonic Temple as man to
the universe.”” The preacher expressed a hope that “this
blooming plant [that is, the new synagogue], may yet be
transplanted to the Sacred Soil.” The third-day speaker sup-
posed that this would be the last synagogue to be built in
captivity, and compared it to the Temple of Zerubabbel.
The fourth-day sermon was dedicated to the power of
prayer.”® On the fifth day, there was some speculation about
the size of the synagogue, which is only ten inches smaller
than the Temple; this difference was explained by divine
providence, but not the builder’s deliberation.®” On the sixth
day, the building activity of the community was compared
to that of God, who created and rejected many worlds
before achieving this one, which is totally good.'® The sev-
enth-day sermon emphasized harmony between religion
and politics, and condemned those who opposed the con-
struction of the synagogue as an antithesis to the promised
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Figure 22 Elias Bouwman, Ashkenazi Great

Synagogue (Grote Sjoel), Amsterdam, 1670-71,
plan and section. The Great Synagogue occupies
the northeast corner of the compound.

Figure 23 Ashkenazi Great Synagogue,
Amsterdam), buttresses of the north fagcade
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Figure 24 Elias Bouwman, Portuguese Great Synagogue (Esnoga),
Amsterdam, 1671-75, 1773-74, plan

Heavenly House.!?! As I demonstrate below, several of the
inaugural themes provide a context for interpreting the
design of the synagogue.

The architectural appearance of the synagogue relied
greatly on the image of Solomon’s Temple by Villalpando,
repeated in the model by Rabbi Leén, and in earlier
achievements of Dutch Reformed sacred architecture (Fig-
ures 24-26).'? Its ground plan included four central
columns supporting the beams of three longitudinal
wooden barrel vaults, while two rows of the secondary
lower columns bore the women’s galleries. The order of
these columns combined the Ionic volutes and echinus with

the Corinthian abacus. On the exterior, the synagogue pre-
served an impressive integral volume, with elevations
retained by curved buttresses alternating with high round-
headed windows. The synagogue was placed within a court-
yard formed by lower ancillary buildings, using urban
planning to reinforce the impression of the Temple com-
pound.'® The further reconstruction of the synagogue in
1773-74, when four exceptionally massive curved buttresses
were added to its east fagade,'™
inal concept (see Figure 25).
The semantic similarity between the Portuguese syna-
gogue, the Dutch churches, and Villalpando’s plan and
interpretive scheme reveals the symbolism of the Esnoga
with its four main columns dedicated to the Levitical fam-
ilies, and twelve secondary columns symbolizing the Tribes
of Israel. The roofing of the synagogue interior avoids any
empbhasis on the transverse axis of the building, thus dis-

simply underlined the orig-

tancing itself from the cross-in-square composition explicit
in the churches. The longitudinal barrel vaulting runs par-

Figure 25 Portuguese Great Synagogue, Amsterdam, view of the

buttresses of the east fagade
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allel to the main axis of the building, which emphasizes the
ascending of the space toward the Torah Ark. It moves the
worshipper from the Profane of the courtyard to the Holy
of the prayer hall, and further to the Holy of Holies of the
Ark. The side entrances distinctly mark the transverse axis
of the building, even though the north door was blocked by
the bench for the parnassim (elders) behind it.'® Apparently,
the entrances were inspired only in part by a need for sym-
metry, as supposed by Judith Belinfante and others.!% It also
gave expression to the relationship between the Esnoga and
the Temple compound after Villalpando’s reconstruction,
with its three gates leading to the Temple platform from the
east, north, and south, and the corresponding triad of gates
of the interior Levitical courtyard (see Figure 2). The bench
for the parnassim echoed the curved buttresses of the Tem-
ple platform, as did the preacher’s pulpit in the interior of
the Reform churches (Figure 27). Similarities and marked
differences between the Esnoga and its Reformed church
precursors reflected the effort of the Portuguese commu-
nity to create what they called “bom judesmo,” a “worthy”
Judaism capable of confronting the dominant Christian cul-
ture on an equal footing.'"’

Acceptance by the Portuguese congregation of an
architectural idea originating from their Ashkenazi brethren
was unusual. The attitude of the wealthy and well-estab-

Figure 26 Portuguese Great Synagogue, Amsterdam, view of the
buttresses of the north fagade

Figure 27 Portuguese Great Synagogue,
Amsterdam, bench for the parnassim
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lished Portuguese Jews of Amsterdam to the Ashkenazi
refugees from the Thirty Years War can best be described
as pragmatic, limited to providing aid and charity in return
for certain services.!®® Their perception of the Polish Jews
who fled from Chmielnicki’s massacres with only the clothes
on their backs was initially slightly more favorable because
of the number of educated people among them, correct offi-
cial relations with the Jewish Council of the Four Lands,
and a desire to deprecate by means of contrast the “beg-
gars” of the German wave of refugees.'” But by 1670, when
the Poles had managed to achieve the leadership of the
entire Amsterdam Ashkenazi community, there was no
great difference in the attitude of the Sephardim toward
tudescos (Germans) or polacos (Poles);'? this position could
anachronistically be described as Jewish anti-Semitism.'!!
For instance, intermarriage between the two communities
was prohibited, German and Polish Jews could occupy only
the side aisles in the Portuguese synagogues, and Sephardi
welfare contributions were used to reroute the new immi-
grants. While the Sephardi Jews were not fond of their poor
relatives, they sometimes needed to employ Ashkenazi offi-
cials because of their greater Jewish knowledge, since the
Ashkenazim had never been forced to live as crypto-Jews.!!?
Nevertheless, the Sephardim borrowed the Polish archi-
tectural pattern for other reasons.

Acceptance of the Polish nine-bay design scheme by the
wealthy Portuguese Jewish congregation of Amsterdam in
the 1670s was prepared for by a common understanding of
the symbolism of the building. As Villalpando’s imagery was
widespread throughout Europe, it became a kind of exclusive
architectural language for the initiated. The design philos-
ophy of the poor polacos was acquired by the arrogant
Sephardim, well schooled in these allegories by Rabbi Leén
and such architects as van Campen and Stalpaert. Moreover,
it was probably messianic fervor that made believers recep-
tive to any allusions to the approaching “last days.”

At both Jewish communities of Amsterdam, the mes-
sianic tension had passed its climax in 1666 with the apostasy
of Shabbetai Zevi, the famous false messiah. In the follow-
ing years, the initially enthusiastic leaders of the Sephardim,
including the Habam Aboab de Fonseca, became “unbeliev-
ers” worried about the stability and respectability of the con-
gregation. Nevertheless, messianic expectations were still
shared by many decent members of the community;'"* hence
it is possible that the connection between the two Amster-
dam synagogues and the Temple prototype was stipulated
by apocalyptic calculations of the dates around which they
were erected. In the Portuguese Jewish community of Ham-
burg, the followers of Shabbetai Zevi presumed the year
1670 to be the year in which the Temple would be rebuilt.!!*

According to the epistle circulated in Amsterdam—written
by Nathan of Gaza, a disciple of Shabbetai Zevi—1670 was
predicted as the year “of manifestation of the Holy Ancient
One,” while 1672 would be the year “when the ingathering
of the dispersed [Tribes of Israel] shall take place, and he
[Shabbetai Zevi, who Nathan of Gaza believed was the mes-
siah] shall behold the sanctuary all ready built descending
from above.”'"’ The dispute between those who expected
the ready-built Temple to appear in the coming years, and
the followers of a more politically balanced approach which
included the commission of a new synagogue, was echoed
in the seventh-day inaugural sermon: “Are we, they said, to
build a palace for God who already has a house and throw
the needy Portuguese out of their house into the street?”!'¢
"The continuity of messianic expectations was explicit in the
second-day inaugural sermon of the Esnoga, with its alle-
gory of the synagogue as a plant hopefully transferred into
the Sacred Soil,!” that is, mystically moved to the Holy
Land.

The architectural concept and building date of the
Esnoga were solutions satisfying to both “believers” and
“unbelievers” within the congregation. For instance, the
“unbelievers” succeeded in constructing a synagogue
instead of expecting the ready-built Temple, while the
“believers” could be comforted by considerating the impor-
tance of the year 1672 carved in the synagogue lintel instead
of the historically correct 1675. Its shape satisfied every-
body, since it supported the general Jewish hope for the
redemption “in our days.”

The situation in Jewish Amsterdam by 1670 was far
from the postmessianic idyll; it was full of competition
between the Sephardim and Ashkenazim, and tensions
within each congregation. I dispute the opinion that the
connection of the main synagogues of Amsterdam with the
Temple of Solomon was a political allegory in which Hol-
land was substituted for the Promised Land, while the Iber-
ian peninsula and eastern Europe played the role of
Egypt.!'® This interpretation seems to be an artificial pro-
jection of the New Children of Israel onto the Jews. It
underestimates the strength of messianic sentiments in
Judaism at that time. The third-day inaugural sermon of
the Esnoga actually describes it as “the last synagogue i
captivity.”11? A reference to the Temple of Zerubabbel—
rebuilt on the return from the Babylonian exile—could
address the recent calamities, as an analogous reference did
in the inaugural sermon of the Nieuwe Kerk of Haarlem.

"The influence of Villalpando’s reconstruction of the Tem-
ple persisted in the Low Countries in the seventeenth cen-
tury, apparent in characteristic quotations of Villalpando’s
Corinthianesque architectural order, the curved buttresses,
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and the nine-bay scheme, which was interpreted in the cross-
in-square plans of the churches and in the four-pier plans of
the synagogues. Van Campen invented this concept, and his
younger colleague Stalpaert later used it. It corresponded to
the nine-bay synagogue layout imported from Poland due to
the same visual source—Villalpando’s treatise.

The symbolic meaning of the Villalpandan-inspired
sacred buildings in the Low Countries was not uniform.
The Reform churches quoted the Temple of Solomon to
glorify victory of the “true” religion over “idolatry” and of
the Dutch people over Spanish tyranny. While millennial-
ism may have been a source of the Reformist program, mes-
sianic expectations were definitely taken into consideration
when the Great Portuguese Synagogue was designed and
built. A concern for controversial post-Sabbatean messianic
issues found its expression in the architectural appearance of

the synagogue.

Villalpando and England

The messianic believers within the Jewish communities of
Holland were not isolated from Christian millenarians. In
fact, the model of the Temple by Rabbi Ledn was inspired
and commissioned by a millenarian theologian, Adam
Boreel, who belonged to a group of Christian scholars that
included Jan Amos Comenius and Peter Serrarius. Joint
work by Christian and Jewish scholars aimed to bridge the
abyss between Jews and Christians, a goal considered desir-
able at the dawn of the messianic era, and planned for
1655-56.12° Besides Rabbi Leén, an outstanding represen-
tative of the Portuguese Jewish community, Rabbi Menasseh
ben Israel (1604-1657), was involved in these activities. He
played an important role not only in the teaching of Hebrew
to the Christians, translating the Mishnab to improve Gen-
tiles’ understanding of contemporary Judaism, but also on
the political stage. In the 1640s, he met twice with a Jesuit
friar, Antonio de Vieira, and together they formulated
“Judeo-Christianity,” in which the coming of the Jewish
Messiah and the Second Coming of Jesus could be inter-
preted as the same event. This formulation encompassed the
possibility of salvation for all without the conversion of the
Jews.1?! In 1655, Menasseh ben Israel traveled to England
as agent of the Jews of the world to negotiate with Cromwell
the readmission of the Jews to England. In this way, he
sought realization of the prophecy that the complete dis-
persal of the Jews to the four corners of the world would
hasten the coming of the messianic era.'?? The Dutch Chris-
tian millenarians and the messianic Jews worked closely with
their British brethren such as Samuel Hartlib and John
Dury.'?* Strong chiliastic aspirations on both sides of the
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Channel focused on the restored monarch Charles II as the
future ruler of the Millennial Kingdom.!?*

Nearly twenty years after Menasseh ben Israel’s suc-
cessful mission, Rabbi Leén traveled to England in 1674-75
with his model of the Temple. Rabbi Leén left Holland with
introductions from Constantijn Huygens to the Portuguese
ambassador in London, to Lord Arlington, to Henry Old-
enburg, and to Wren. It may be assumed that Rabbi Leén
presented his model both to the architect and to the king.!*
Although messianic enthusiasm was already out of favor in
Restoration England, the impact of this visit should not be
underestimated, given the interest in the image of the Tem-
ple as a prototype, at least for Wren.

Wren was associated with a group of reformers, repre-
sented by Robert Boyle, Walter Charleton, John Evelyn,
John Wallis, and John Wilkins, who shared a religious and
social vision of science, including millenarian aspects, albeit
distinct from the Puritan radicalism of the 1640s. This group
stood at the beginnings of modern science with its skeptical
and experimental methods. In accord with Boyle’s Christian-
ized “corpuscular philosophy,” they believed that providence
and nature both stood behind all the motion in the world,
and had to be studied with patient scrutiny. Wren managed
to expand this approach into architectural history and its
important subject of the biblical Temple of Jerusalem.!2¢

Wren was well aware of Villalpando’s Temple recon-
struction, although his library apparently did not include
it.1?” He considered Villalpando’s work to be a “fine Roman-
tic Piece after the Corinthian Order.”!?® Wren proposed his
own theory that the Tyrian or Phoenician order was that of
Solomon’s Temple, since its builders were Phoenicians. He
assumed that the Tyrian order was ruder than the
Corinthian, and that it was transmitted from the Egyptians
to the Babylonians, on to the Phoenicians, and finally to the
Greeks. It was thus a product of both nature and divine
inspiration.!?” This divergence from Villalpando did not
prevent Wren from producing design solutions himself that
were similar to the Dutch patterns by van Campen and Stal-
paert, to say nothing of his application of the Corinthian
order combined with the cross-in-square scheme, appar-
ently with reference to the Temple. This can be seen in a
small group of churches that he built after the Great Fire of
London—St. Mary-at-Hill (begun in 1670) (Figure 28a),
St. Anne and St. Agnes (Figure 28b), and St. Martin’s,
Ludgate (Figure 28c) (both begun in 1677).13° In each case,
the main body of the church is roughly a square, and four
columns define the innermost bay in the center of the build-
ing. The ceilings of these churches, outside the central bay,
are low and flat, while the axial bays are spanned by higher
barrel vaults, which intersect in the central bay in St. Anne



Figure 28 Plans of Christopher Wren's churches, London a) St. Mary-at-Hill; b) St. Anne and St. Agnes; c) St. Martin's, Ludgate; d) St. Stephen'’s,
Wialbrook

and St. Agnes, and St. Martin’s. In St. Mary-at-Hill, the
central bay is spanned by a low dome on pendentives.'*' An
evolution of this scheme is noticeable at St. Stephen’s, Wal-
brook, built in 1672-79 (Figure 28d)."*2 Wren increased the
number of its central columns to twelve. The difference
between the plan of Nieuwe Kerk of Haarlem and that of
St. Stephen’s, Walbrook, was the placement of the four
diagonal columns. Their recessed position in Wren’s work
allowed for a splendid Baroque composition that included
eight transverse arches, pendentives, and a dome. Unlike
those of the Nieuwe Kerk, none of the twelve central
columns of St. Stephen’s, Walbrook, could be eliminated
arbitrarily. The number of columns involved in the design
of St. Stephen’s, Walbrook, reflects the application of Vil-
lalpando’s nine-bay scheme and its symbolism of the Twelve
Tribes of Israel. Wren’s cross-in-square church composi-
tions may reveal his admiration of Villalpando’s Temple plan
and Corinthianesque order. Moreover, the Corinthian
columns of St. Stephen’s, Walbrook, are surmounted by an
entablature decorated with triglyphlike floral elements,
which could have been related to Villalpando’s order, espe-
cially to his leaf-shaped channels in the triglyphs.

In the opinion of Margaret Whinney, the similarity
between Wren’s London churches and the Dutch churches
discussed above is so great that there must be a connection
between the Dutch and English work, though it is not pos-
sible to say exactly how Wren knew about the former.!*
One possible explanation comes via Wren’s friend Dr.
Robert Hooke, whose diary of 1674 records a trip to Hol-
land by Abraham Story, a London mason, and his report on
a new Lutheran church in Amsterdam and on the new syn-

agogue in the same city.!** Another possible link is the visit
by Rabbi Ledn, who presented his model of the Temple to
Wren in 1675.13 Nevertheless, it remains difficult to
explain the similarity between the Dutch and English
church architecture by these contacts, since the construc-
tion of St. Mary-at-Hill and St. Stephen’s, Walbrook, was
already under way in 1674. Perhaps Wren was already
aware of the Dutch projects from an earlier unknown
source, or had developed his cross-in-square and twelve-
column schemes independently from the Dutch prototype,
but under the influence of Villalpando.

Beside the Dutch associations of Wren’s design already
discussed, his dependence on Claude Perrault—in his turn
influenced by Villalpando’s image of the Temple—is conspic-
uous.!3¢ This line is further traceable in the work of Wren’s
pupil Nicholas Hawksmoor (1661-1736). In his St. Mary’s,
Woolnoth (1716-23), Hawksmoor applied Solomonic ele-
ments such as twisted Corinthian columns and twelve fluted
Corinthian columns delimiting the central space. '*” This edi-
fice inherited much from Wren’s St. Mary-le-Bow, built,
according to the architect’s statement, after the Templum
Pacis.!*® The Solomonic connotation here was mediated,
since Templum Pacis was built by Roman emperor Vespasian
to honor the destruction of Jerusalem.!** However, none of
these varied examples was influenced by Wren’s Tyrian theory,
which was probably invented after a number of Wren’s
churches had already been built, at a time when interest
increased in early Eastern Christian architecture as prototyp-
ical for “true” churches.

Wren’s alleged dependence on some eschatological
typology seems plausible given that the Dutch prototypes
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may have been influenced by this kind of thought, in light
of Wren’s interest in theology'® and his personal contacts
with millenarian and messianic thinkers.!*! Nevertheless, a
different meaning emerges in the quotation from the Tem-
ple at St. Stephen’s, Walbrook, and in Wren’s other
churches. In St. Stephen’s, references to the Temple seem to
be less symbols of the Temple of the messianic era than an
appropriate setting for an Early Christian saint, given the
dedication of the church to one of the first deacons and the
first Christian martyr of Jerusalem.

A very limited acceptance of the design principles of
the Great Portuguese Synagogue of Amsterdam is evident
in the daughter synagogue Bevis Marks of London (1701),
though a Solomonic element—the twisted balusters—was
placed on the Aron Kodesh, bimah, and pews.'* Its architect
was a master builder, Joseph Avis, a Quaker carpenter.'®
The four central columns of the mother synagogue were
not reproduced at Bevis Marks, although the twelve Tuscan
columns supporting the women’s gallery may perhaps be
regarded as a quotation, but may be a mere numerical appli-
ance unconnected to Villalpando. However, these cannot
be interpreted as an application of the Tyrian theory,
because Avis did not belong to the Anglican establishment
and was far removed from the architectural elite repre-
sented by Wren.'* Moreover, Bevis Marks was a relatively
modest building with limited means of expression. Kadish
points out that “British Jews did not yet share the architec-
tural confidence of their Dutch counterparts to make a
comparable public statement of their presence.”'¥

The influence of Villalpando’s reconstruction is feasible
in a number of Wren’s churches, although Wren’s own theory
contradicted it. Wren developed the nine-bay scheme into an
impressive Baroque work at St. Stephen’s, Walbrook. Unlike
the Dutch Reform application of Villalpando, the Temple alle-
gory of this church was a setting for a Christian saint rather
than a symbol of messianic expectations. The Bevis Marks
Synagogue, though a recognized daughter of the Great Por-
tuguese Synagogue of Amsterdam and Wren’s contemporary,
included certain messianic symbols, albeit not necessarily asso-
ciated with Villalpando’s imagery.

Conclusion

Villalpando’ influence on architectural theory and practice
in western Europe and its eastern borderlands was contin-
uous throughout the seventeenth century. This impact can
be observed in Catholic and Reform churches as well as in
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synagogue architecture. Moreover, the nine-bay synagogue
design, a transformation of Villalpando’s vision of the Tem-
ple first invented in eastern Europe, was adopted in western
Europe as a recognizably Solomonic element. The route
from the nine-court scheme of the Temple to a twelve-pier,
or a cross-in-square, or a nine-bay plan was pursued inde-
pendently by Medleni in Poland, van Campen in Holland,
and apparently by Wren in England. A genuine innovator,
Medleni revised an earlier bimab-support scheme with the
help of Villalpando’s imagery and symbolism. Emphasis on
the cross contained in a square, or on longitudinal vaulting,
as well as the ambivalent symbolism of the nine-bay vault-
ing, was a matter of choice for the architects, depending on
the commission.

Villalpando’s influential work was not a marginal phe-
nomenon in synagogue architecture; it manifested itself in a
number of important monuments. In Poland, it was most evi-
dent in the magnificent synagogues of Lviv and Ostroh. Later
applications were mostly confined to nine-bay-plan schemes,
although a sporadic reference to the specific order and curved
buttresses could still be discerned in the late seventeenth and
eighteenth centuries. From Poland, the nine-bay scheme
spread west with the waves of refugees. In the Grote Sjoel of
Amsterdam, the four-pier design proposed by the Polish
patron was eagerly taken up by the Dutch architects; in addi-
tion to the Portuguese Esnoga, it served as a model for a few
Ashkenazi synagogues, such as the Nieuwe Sjoel in Amster-
dam (mid-eighteenth century), the synagogue in Leeuwarden
(1800), and probably that of Altona (1682-84).

The varied meanings of Villalpanian influences in
sacred architecture in the seventeenth century depended on
the cultural context. In Catholic edifices, reference to the
Temple of Jerusalem praised the builders and their work
and hallowed the new sacred site by means of Solomonic
retrospection. In the Reform churches, Villalpando’s
imagery symbolized a return to the genuine roots of reli-
gion in accordance with the typological concept of the New
Children of Israel. In Anglican architecture of the Restora-
tion, the role of such quotation moderated to that of an
illustration of the early Christian story. In synagogue archi-
tecture, the image of the Temple was called up by messianic
expectations, hope for redemption “in our days.” Cultural
exchange between the Christian architects and Jewish
clients, between millenarian Christians and messianic Jews,
between Catholics and Protestants, gave an architectural
device for expression of diverse symbolic meanings sought
by the believers.
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